#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

W.R.BERKLEY CORPORATION, UNION STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY, UNION STANDARD INSURANCE GROUP, AND GREAT RIVER INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANTS/CROSS-APPELLEES

V.

NO.2009-CA-01223

REA'S COUNTRY LANE CONSTRUCTION, INC. APPELLEE/CROSS-APPELLANT



#### BRIEF OF APPELLANTS/CROSS-APPELLEES

ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED

Robert P. Thompson, MSB Caryn Milner, MSB No. Copeland, Cook, Taylor & Bush, P.A. 1076 Highland Colony Parkway, Suite 100 P.O. Box 6020 Ridgeland, Mississippi 39158 Telephone (601) 856-7200 Facsimile (601) 856-7626

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

### **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES**

- 1. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Great River Insurance Company's Motion for Summary Judgment on Coverage and Bad Faith;
- 2. The Trial Court Erred in Denying Appellants' Request for a Directed Verdict/Involuntary Dismissal; and,
- 3. The Trial Court Erred in Awarding Rea's a Final Judgment on its Claims Against Appellants.

### **ORAL ARGUMENT IS REQUESTED**

Appellants request oral argument pursuant to Rule 34 of the Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure. The appeal record is voluminous as the underlying lawsuit approaches its ten year anniversary. Oral argument will assist the Court with the facts relevant to this appeal. Of significance, the "dispute" between the parties concerns the law, not the facts. Rea's contends there is a "split of authorities" regarding the "occurrence" provision. There is not. Oral argument will facilitate a thorough discussion of the law applicable to the "occurrence" provision.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case

This is an insurance coverage dispute. In the underlying case, Margaret Broom ("Broom") sued Rea's County Lane Construction, Inc. ("Rea's")(and other defendants), for their alleged "wrongful" and "willful" breach of contract and "grossly careless, indifferent and reckless" actions. Broom asserted causes of action including conversion, intentional misrepresentation and fraud, fraud, gross negligence, negligence and other causes of action, arising from the underlying defendants' "reckless" and "wrongful" conduct.

Following Broom's suit, Rea's sought coverage for Broom's claims under Rea's insurance policy issued by Great River Insurance Company ("Great River"). Great River denied coverage for the claim due to, *inter alia*, a lack of an "occurrence," lack of "property damage" and certain policy exclusions.

#### B. Course of Proceedings

On January 26, 2001, Margaret Broom sued several defendants, including Rea's, alleging a wilful breach of contract. [R.E.1, R.35].

On October 3, 2002, Rea's filed a Third Party Complaint against Great River Insurance Company, W.R.Berkley Corporation, "Union Standard Insurance Group" and Union Standard Insurance Company, alleging that Great River's insurance policy issued to Rea's provided coverage for Broom's lawsuit, and that Great River's denial of benefits to Rea's was in "bad faith." [R.E.2, R.1432]. The underlying Defendants timely filed their Answers and Defenses. [R.1453, 1465, 1474]. Great River likewise filed a Counterclaim for Declaratory Relief. [R.1453]. The parties

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Rea's sued W.R.Berkley Corporation, Union Standard Insurance Group and Union Standard Insurance Company, alleging that these "entities" should also be held liable because they are the "alter egos" of Great River.

conducted both oral and written discovery.

On July 13, 2004, Great River filed its Motion for Summary Judgment on Coverage and Third Party Plaintiff's Claim for Bad Faith, seeking summary judgment, as a matter of law, on all of Rea's claims because Great River's policy did not provide coverage for the claims asserted against Rea's in the underlying lawsuit. [R.2250]. Rea's responded, arguing there was a split of authorities concerning the interpretation and application of the "occurrence" provision. [R.2520]. Rea's argument in opposition to the summary judgment was based on a disagreement in the law. *Id.* It was not based on the presence of any disputed fact(s). *Id.* 

On September 29, 2004, the court held a hearing on Great River's Motion for Summary Judgment. Shortly after the hearing began, the Court halted any further argument, finding that the law firm of Upshaw Williams, Biggers, Beckham and Riddick, LLP<sup>2</sup> was a necessary party pursuant to Rule 19 of the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. On October 11, 2004, the Court issued an Order to that effect. [R.3956]. On February 4, 2005, the court dismissed the law firm without prejudice because no parties asserted any claim against it. [R.3993].

On December 10, 2004, Great River supplemented its Motion for Summary Judgment with additional evidence. [R.3980].

On April 4, 2005, the court held a hearing on Great River's Motion for Summary Judgment on Coverage and Plaintiff's Claim for Bad Faith. [R.E.3, *Hearing Transcript*]. At the conclusion of the hearing, the Court denied the Motion. *Id.* 

On April 8, 2005, the Court entered an Order, bifurcating the trial between (1) Rea's claim that coverage was afforded by Great River's policy; and, (2) Rea's claim that the denial of coverage was made in bad faith. [R.E.4, R.3997].

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Steven Cookston, Esq. with that law firm prepared the coverage opinion(s).

On April 18, 2005, the Court entered an Order, denying Great River's Motion for Summary Judgment. [R.E.5, 4001-2]. Great River filed for an Interlocutory Appeal to this Court, which was denied. [R.4333].

On May 11, 2005, the court held a bench trial. [R.E. 6, *Trial Transcript*]. At the conclusion of the trial the court found in favor of Rea's on its claim for coverage. *Id.* Thereafter, the court issued four (4) consecutive judgments. The Judgments are dated July 7, 2005 [R.E.7, R.4029], August 18, 2006 [R.E.8, R.4068], September 8, 2008 [R.E.9, R.4122] and June 17, 2009 [R.E.10, R.4188].

On July 7, 2005, the court issued its "Final Judgment," finding that "the original complaint alleged damages that occurred as a result of an 'occurrence" pursuant to the policy." [R.E.7, 4029-32]. The court advised that it would "further conduct a hearing as to punitive damages, if any, or attorney fees that will be assessed." *Id*.

On July 14, 2005, Rea's filed a Motion to Amend the Final Judgment, seeking an amendment that the Judgment should be for "\$134, 844.47" plus pre- and post-judgment interest. [R.4033]. Great River timely responded to this Motion. [R.4038].

In December of 2005 and January of 2006, the parties submitted their briefs on the issue of punitive damages.<sup>3</sup> [R.4051, Volume 31 at R.3-13 and R.4064].

On August 18, 2006, the court issued a second "Final Judgment." [R.E.8, R.4068]. Here, the court found that punitive damages should not be awarded, but found that Rea's was entitled to the attorney fees incurred in filing its bad faith lawsuit. *Id.* In awarding those fees, the court held:

This Court finds that in this case punitive damages should not be awarded, however, this Court does find that Rea's County Lane had to take steps to protect themselves,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> The parties agreed to conduct this phase by brief. Great River's brief was supplemented to the appeal record, and is located in Volume 31, at R. 3 -13.

as well as to protect the interest of the insurance company. That after taking those steps it had to further take steps to recovery that that (sic) this Court has subsequently found was and should have been paid by the insurance company.

[R.E.8, R.4070]. The court advised it would take subsequent testimony either live or by affidavit concerning the attorney fees and expenses incurred. *Id*.

Rea's filed another Motion to Amend the Final Judgment. [R.4072]. Rea's requested the court to rule on its prior Motion to Amend and also requested that the lower court reconsider its ruling on punitive damages. *Id.* Great River timely responded to the Motion. [R.4083].

In the meantime, Rea's submitted an Affidavit regarding attorney fees and expenses, and Great River timely responded. [R.4111-4121].

On September 8, 2008, the lower Court issued its "Judgment," finding that Rea's was entitled to the attorney fees incurred in pursing its bad faith lawsuit in the amount of 40% of the damages awarded and \$10,000 in expenses. [R.E.9, R.4122].

On September 18, 2008, Rea's filed its Motion to Amend, seeking a declaration by the lower court as to the amount being awarded, seeking pre- and post- judgment interest and seeking a ruling on its "motion for reconsideration" on the issue of punitive damages. [R.4124]. Great River timely responded. [R.4156]. A final Judgment was issued on June 17, 2009, discussed below.

#### C. Disposition in the Court Below

In its fourth and final "Judgment" dated June 17, 2009, the lower court awarded Rea's a "total" judgment of \$193,684.954, as follows:

\$63,937.79 "for incurred attorney fees in defending [the underlying case]"5;

\$60,000.00 "as payment to settle [the underlying claim];

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The correct total of these figures is \$183,684.95 (using the incorrect calculation of attorney fees).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The correct total of the attorney bills is \$61,511.57.

- (f) the right to remove the material expired and all final grading and replanting was to be completed by January 1, 2000;
- (g) Kent agreed to indemnify Broom against any and all claims resulting from the work.

Id. at 37.

Kent defaulted on this contract. *Id.* Its bonding company (National Union Fire Insurance Company) ("National Union") assumed Kent's obligations under the contract. National Union then hired J.B. Talley and Rea's. *Id.* at 38. The contract between National Union and Rea's is entitled "Completion and Indemnification Agreement." [*Trial Exhibit 13*, pp.326-341]. Rea's then entered into a Subcontract with L&J Construction, entitled "Subcontract." [*Trial Exhibit 13*, pp.342-346]. L&J then entered into two (2) contracts: (1) a "Pit Agreement" with Broom; and, (2) a "Subcontract" with W.C.Pitts. [*Trial Exhibit 13*, p.347 and pp.222-228, respectively].

Broom alleged that the "defendants" caused three (3) pits to be dug on her property which "were not dug in accordance with the specifications contained in the Broom Contract." *Id.* Broom contends "the slopes were not as agreed, the pits were not lined with clay, the topsoil was not stockpiled and placed back afterwards [and] [t]he roads and slopes were not graded and grassed nor was the main road graded and graveled." See *Id.* Further, W.C.Pitts dumped truckloads of waste material onto Broom's property in contravention of her demand not to do so. *Id.* at 47, page 142 of Margaret Broom's deposition.

Broom's lawsuit settled, with Rea's paying \$60,000 to Broom. [Trial Exhibit 16].

#### 2. The Policy

Great River's policy provides, in relevant part,

We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies. This insurance only applies to bodily injury and property damage only if:

- (1) The "bodily injury" or "property damage" is caused by an "occurrence" that takes place in the coverage territory; and
- (2) the "bodily injury" or "property damage" occurs during the policy period.

[R.E.11, R.2361].

Under Definitions, Great River's policy defines "occurrence" as "an accident, including continuing or repeated exposure to substantially the same general harmful conditions." [R.E.11, R.2373]. "Property damage" is defined as "physical injury to tangible property, including all resulting loss of use of that property" or "loss of use of tangible property that is not physically injured." [R.E.11, R.2373-2374]. The policy excludes from coverage: "property damage" to "that particular part of real property on which [Rea's] or any contractors or subcontractors working directly or indirectly on [Rea's] behalf are performing operations, if the 'property damage' arises out of those operations." [R.E.11, R.2363-2364]. The policy further excludes "property damage" to "Rea's work" and/or "impaired property." [R.E.11, R.2364].

#### 3. Great River's Receipt of Rea's Claim

Rea's submitted Broom's complaint it to its liability insurance carrier (Great River), requesting a defense and indemnity. [R.2556-7]. Great River reviewed the complaint, policy of insurance and referred for a coverage opinion to outside coverage counsel, Steven Cookston, Esq. (Upshaw, Williams, Biggers, Beckham and Riddick)("Cookston"). [R.2267]. Cookston reviewed the complaint, policy of insurance, accord notice and the law of Mississippi and other jurisdictions and opined that Great River's policy did not provide coverage for the claims asserted against Rea's. [R.E.12]. A denial letter was issued to Rea's. [R.E. 13]..

In the summer of 2002, Andy Kilpatrick, Esq. (Rea's counsel)("Kilpatrick") forwarded

Cookston additional materials to review and/or consider. [R.E, 15, Trial Exhibit 14]. This supplemental information was comprised of:

- A. Copy of Kilpatrick June 27, 2002 letter to Jim Armstrong;
- B. Transcripts of the depositions of Margaret Broom, Knox Broom and Willard Bishop;
- C. April 26, 1999 Completion and Indemnification Agreement Between National Union Fire Insurance Company of Pittsburgh, PA and Rea's Country Lane Construction;
- D. May 6, 1999 subcontract entered into between Rea's Country Lane Construction, Inc. and L&J Construction, Inc.;
- E. May 18, 1999 Pit Agreement For Existing Pits between Margaret Broom and L&J Construction;
- F. March 8, 2001 Answer and Cross Claim of Kent Excavating, Inc.;
- G. March 9, 2001 Affirmative Defenses, Answer and Cross-Claim of Rea's Country Lane Construction, Inc.;
- H. Itemization of Undisputed Facts Submitted By Rea's Country Lane Construction, Inc. In Support of Its Motion for Summary Judgment;
- I. Memorandum Brief in Support of the Motion for Summary Judgment of Rea's Country Lane Construction, Inc.;
- J. Plaintiff's Response to Motion of Summary Judgment of Rea's Country Lane Construction, Inc.;
- K. Defendant's Response to Plaintiff's Response to Rea's Motion for Summary Judgment; and
- L. Plaintiff's Response to Rea's Itemization of Undisputed Facts.

#### [R.E. 14 and 15].

On September 11, 2002, Cookston rendered his supplemental coverage opinion. [R.E.14, R.2281]. Cookston discussed the additional materials reviewed and opined that Great River's policy did not provide coverage for the allegations asserted against Rea's in Broom's lawsuit. *Id.* A denial letter was issued to Rea's. [R.E.15, Trial Exhibit 14]. The summary judgment argument and

discussion at trial was focused on the first coverage opinion. Similarly, the lower court's judgment finding there was an "occurrence" was based on the allegations of the complaint.

#### 4. Rea's Bad Faith Lawsuit

On October 3, 2002, Rea's filed a Third Party Complaint against Great River, Union Standard Insurance Company, Union Standard Insurance Group and W.R. Berkley and John and Jane Doe Defendants A, B, C, D, and E, alleging a wrongful denial of insurance benefits. As to Union Standard Insurance Company, "Union Standard Insurance Group" and W.R. Berkley Corporation, Rea's alleged that these "entities" were the alter egos of Great River.

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

Great River's policy does not provide coverage for the claims asserted against Rea's. First, there was no "occurrence," defined as an "accident." Broom alleged intentional conduct in her Complaint. The conduct amounted to a breach of contract. Pursuant to Womack and its progeny (Moulton, Omnibank and Architex), such intentional conduct does not constitute an "occurrence" under the policy. See, Womack v. Employers Mutual Liberty Company, 101 So.2d 107 (Miss. 1958); Allstate Ins. Co. v. Moulton, 464 So. 2d 507, 510 (Miss. 1985); United States Fid. & Guar. Co. v. OmniBank, 812 So. 2d 196, 200 (Miss. 2002); and Architex Ass'n v. Scottsdale Ins. Co., 27 So. 3d 1148 (Miss. 2010).

Second, there was no "property damage." There was no physical injury to tangible property or loss of use of tangible property.

Third, even assuming Broom alleged "property damage" caused by an "occurrence," the policy excludes from coverage "property damage" to real property on which Rea's was working (and/or any subcontractors or contractors were working directly or indirectly on Rea's behalf).

Fourth, again assuming Broom alleged "property damage" caused by an "occurrence," the policy does not provide coverage for "property damage" to "impaired property." The "impaired property" exclusion excludes from coverage damage to property arising out of a deficiency or inadequacy in Rea's work and/or a delay or failure by Rea's (or anyone acting on its behalf) to perform a contract or agreement in accordance with its terms. Further, the policy excludes from coverage damages expected or intended by the insured, and damages arising from contractual liability.

Great River filed its Motion for Summary Judgment asserting the foregoing. Rea's responded, arguing only the law. Specifically, Rea's argued for a different (legal) interpretation of

the "occurrence" provision. Rea's presented no facts, argument or evidence to indicate any "accidental" conduct, much less a genuine issue of disputed fact. Ultimately, the parties disagreed on the law, not the facts. The lower court was wrong in denying Great River's motion for summary judgment.

At trial, Great River presented additional evidence supporting its argument, including the expert testimony of Sam Thomas, Esq. At the close of the evidence Great River moved for a directed verdict, which was denied. The lower court erred in denying Great River's request for a directed verdict (which was, in effect, a motion for involuntary dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure).

Following the bench trial, the lower court (ultimately) awarded Rea's a judgment in the amount of \$193,684.95. The lower court was wrong in finding there was coverage under Great River's policy. Furthermore, the lower court was wrong in awarding Rea's its attorney fees for pursuing its bad faith lawsuit. There was no factual or legal basis for such an award. Finally, the lower court erred in including Union Standard Insurance Company, "Union Standard Insurance Group" and W.R. Berkley Corporation on the Final Judgment, as there is no evidence of any liability of each and/or any of these Appellants.

#### ARGUMENT

# I. THE LOWER COURT ERRED IN DENYING GREAT RIVER INSURANCE COMPANY'S MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT

#### A. Standard of Review

In Hooker v. Greer, 2012 Miss. LEXIS 117, 11-12 (Miss. 2012), the Court explained:

[t]his Court reviews a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment de novo. This Court also reviews grants or denials of partial summary judgment de novo. Summary judgment shall be rendered when "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file . . . show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." The moving party bears the burden of showing that no genuine issue of material fact exists, whereas the nonmoving party is given the benefit of the doubt as to the existence of a material fact. When considering a motion for summary judgment, evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.

Id. (citing Waggoner v. Williamson, 8 So.3d 147 (Miss. 2009)).

#### B. There Is No Genuine Issue of Material Fact

There was no genuine issue of material fact to preclude summary judgment. The facts demonstrate that the alleged conduct was intentional and amounted to a breach of contract. [R.E. 1, R.35]. In opposition to Great River's Motion for Summary Judgment, Rea's never presented an issue of fact as to coverage.<sup>6</sup> Rather, the summary judgment "dispute" concerned the law, not the facts. Lacking any disputed fact, the court erred in denying Great River's Motion for Summary Judgment.

#### C. There Was No Duty to Defend And/or Indemnify

A duty to defend is determined by looking at the facts alleged in the complaint, together with the policy. See Auto. Ins. Co. v. Lipscomb, 75 So. 3d 557, 559 (Miss. 2011). An insurance company's duty to defend is not triggered until it has knowledge that a complaint has been filed that contains

<sup>6</sup> Rea's did, however, suggest that an issue of fact existed as to "bad faith."

allegations of conduct covered by the policy. *Id.* These allegations, and particularly the conduct alleged in the complaint, determine whether an insurer is required to defend an action. *Id.* No such duty arises when the alleged conduct falls outside the policy's coverage. *Id.* The allegations of Broom's Complaint do not fall within the terms of Great River's policy and/or are excluded from coverage. Great River had no duty to defend and/or indemnify Rea's regarding the claims asserted against it in Broom's lawsuit.

Under the Insuring Agreement of Coverage A<sup>7</sup> of Great River's policy, it provides, in relevant part:

We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "bodily injury" or "property damage" to which this insurance applies.

[R.E.11, R.2361].

The policy further states:

This insurance only applies to bodily injury and property damage only if:

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