IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

COAE

W.R. BERKLEY CORPORATIONN UNION STANDARD INSURANCE COMPANY, UNION STANDARD INSURANCE GROUP, AND GREAT RIVER INSURANCE COMPANY

APPELLANT / CROSS APPELLEES

VS.

NO.: 2009-CA-01223

REA'S COUNTRY LANE CONSTRUCTION, INC. APPELLEE / CROSS APPELLANT

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE / CROSS APPELLANT, REA'S COUNTRY LANE CONSTRUCTION, INC.

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

CLYDE H. GUNN, III, MSB # CHRISTOPHER C. VAN CLEAVE, MSB # W. CORBAN GUNN, MSB DAVID N. HARRIS, JR., (MS Corban, Gunn & Van Cleave, PLLC Post Office Drawer 1916 Biloxi, Mississippi 39533-1916 Phone: 228-432-7826 Fax: 228-456-0998

Attorneys of Record for APPELLEE / CROSS APPELLANT

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

"The 'traditional test' for whether an insurer has a duty to defend under the policy language is that the obligation of a liability insurer is to be determined by the allegations of the complaint or declaration [in the underlying action.]" Sennett v. United Stated Fid. & Guar. Co., 757 So.2d 206,212 (Miss. 2000) The insurer is justified in refusing to defend only if it is clear from the face of the state court complaints that the allegations therein are not covered. <u>See Moeller v.</u> American Guar. & Liab. Ins. Co., 707 So.2d 1062, 1069 (Miss.1996); Merchants Co. v. American Motorists Ins. Co., 794 F.Supp. 611, 617 (S.D.Miss.1992) ("[T]he duty to defend is broader than the insurer's duty to indemnify under its policy of insurance: the insurer has a duty to defend when there is any basis for potential liability under the policy"). If the Complaint alleges multiple grounds for recovery, the insurer must provide a defense if any ground falls within the terms of the policy. American Guarantee and Liability Ins. Co. v. 1906 Co., 273 F.3d 605, 611(5th Cir. Miss. 2001).

In *Burton*, Judge Bramlette found (applying Mississippi law) that the question of whether allegations in a Complaint trigger a duty to defend must be answered by determining whether any of the facts asserted in the complaint are sufficient to give rise to a duty to defend. Burton at *2. (emphasis added). Even though the majority of allegations in the plaintiff's complaint were clearly <u>not</u> covered by the terms of the insurer's E&O policy, the allegations in two paragraphs "are not clearly precluded from coverage [by the insurer's policy]". Burton, at ¶¶7-8 Judge Bramlette ruled that since the allegations in those two paragraphs alleged acts or omissions "potentially covered by the policy"; "a 'claim' ostensibly exists for which [the insurer] had a duty to defend." Id. Judge Bramlette concluded "all doubts are to be resolved in favor of the insured and finding that a duty to defend was owed." Burton, at ¶9 (citations omitted). Indeed, provisions that limit or exclude coverage must be construed liberally in favor of the insured and most strongly against the insurer. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co. v. Garriga, 636 So. 2d 658, 662 (Miss. 1994). This Court must "interpret and construe [the Policy] liberally in favor of the insured [Rea's]." Lewis vs. Progressive Gulf Ins. Co., Inc., 7 So.3d 955, ¶14 (Miss.App. 2009).

The Record reveals Great River had an absolute duty to defend Rea's against Broom's claims. The subject policy of insurance² provides, in pertinent part:

SECTION I – COVERAGES

Coverage A. Bodily Injury Or Property Damage Liability

1. Insuring Agreement

a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of . . . "property damage" to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to defend the insured against any "suit" seeking those damages. However, we will have no duty to defend the insured against any "suit" seeking ... "property damage" to which this insurance does not apply. ...

b. This insurance applies to . . . "property damage" only if: (1) The ... "property damage" is caused by an "occurrence" that takes place in the "coverage territory"; and (2) The ... "property damage" occurs during the policy period.³ ...

Coverage B. Personal ... Injury Liability

1. Insuring Agreement

a. We will pay those sums that the insured becomes legally obligated to pay as damages because of "personal injury" ... to which this insurance applies. We will have the right and duty to

² Although Great River did not bother to determine what policy year to review, Rea's cites the 2/1/99-

^{2/1/00} policy, as Broom's deposition suggests that is when most of the alleged property damage occurred. ³ It is undisputed two "suits" were brought against Rea's (Broom's Complaint and National Union's Cross Claim), and alleged damages were in the "coverage territory" during the policy period.

defend the insured against any "suit" seeking those damages. ...

b. This insurance applies to: (1) "Personal injury" caused by offenses arising out of your business, excluding advertising, publishing, broadcasting or telecasting done by you or for you; **SECTION V – DEFINITIONS**...

12. "Occurrence" means an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general and harmful conditions.

13. "Personal injury" means injury, other than "bodily injury", arising out of one or more of the following offenses: ... c. The wrongful eviction from, wrongful entry into, or invasion of a right to private occupancy of a ... premises that person occupies by or on behalf of it owner, landlord or lessor; ...

15. "Property damage" means: a. Physical injury to tangible property, including all resulting loss of use of that property ...; or b. Loss of use of tangible property that is not physically injured 19. "Your work" means; a. Work or operations performed by you or on your behalf; and b. Materials, parts or equipment furnished in connection with such work or operations.

"Your work" includes: a. Warranties or representations made at any time with respect to the fitness, quality, durability, performance or use of "your work"; and b. The providing of or failure to provide warnings and instructions.

2. Exclusions This insurance does not apply to:

a. Expected or Intended Injury. "Property damage" expected or intended from the standpoint of the insured....

RE 4, 6-7, 10-11; TE1, 302, 305-06; 314-15

Great River contends it had only to compare Broom's Complaint to Rea's policy to support its first claim denial. Rea's contends Crites' testimony regarding minimum required investigation, and Cookston's admission "we" have not seen any contract with Rea's name on it, <u>supra</u>, required additional investigation, including at least interviewing Wayne Rea and looking for contracts that obligated Rea's to do anything with regard to Broom's property. Even considering just the policy and Complaint, however, Great River breached its duty to defend.

Broom's Complaint clearly alleges "physical injury to tangible property" as "property damage" is defined in the policy. Broom's Complaint alleges Defendants caused "three (3) large pits to be dug on [her] property"; that "roads and slopes were not graded and grassed nor was the main road graded and graveled", that "topsoil was wrongfully taken from the property"; and that "[77] truckloads of red clay waste material had been dumped on her property". **R 35-42**, ¶¶ **16**, **18** COUNT IX, "DAMAGES" seeks, in addition to "payment under the subject contract" and "cost of fulfilling [contract obligations]"; "<u>and</u> any costs associated with reclaiming and restoring

the property." Id. ¶16 All damages are sought from all defendants. Broom's Complaint includes counts for Breach of Contract, Negligence, Gross Negligence, Conversion, Equitable Relief and Unjust Enrichment. Great River's assertion these allegations do not constitute "property damage" because they are simply "economic damages" is contrary to the law, and ignores the plain allegations of Broom's Complaint.

The "property damage" alleged by Broom was caused by an "occurrence", which the policy defines as "an accident, including continuous or repeated exposure to substantially the same general and harmful conditions." The General Liability portion of the policy does not define "accident" – though the Business Auto portion defines it as "including continuous or repeated exposure to the same conditions resulting in 'bodily injury' or 'property damage'". **RE 12; EX1, 362** The substantive contract law in this State requires a policy be considered as a "whole, with all relevant clauses together." *Architex Ass'n, Inc. v. Scottsdale Ins. Co.*, 27 So.3d 1148, ¶21 (Miss., 2010). Given the policy's definition of "accident" above, exposure to *any* conditions that result in "property" damage constitutes an "occurrence".

Alternatively, if the definition of "accident" in a different section of Rea's policy is deemed not "relevant", undefined words in an insurance policy are to be given their "ordinary and popular meaning." Corban v. United Services Auto. Ass'n, 20 So.3d 601, ¶17 (Miss.2009) "Accident" is defined in *The Random House College Dictionary* (Revised Edition, 1975) as "an unintentional or unexpected happening" The policy does not direct whether to consider "accident" from the standpoint of the injured party or the insured. When Great River first refused to defend Rea's based on its conclusion there was no alleged "occurrence", Mississippi law required undefined "accident" in an insurance policy to be viewed from the standpoint of the injured party. In *Georgia Casualty Co. vs. Alden Mills*, 127 So. 555 (Miss. 1930), this Court considered an insurance policy that covered "damages . . . accidentally suffered." (at 556)

(emphasis in original). This Court was forced to interpret the scope of coverage within the context of a policy that <u>did not define</u> the controlling term, "accidentally". This Court concluded

Whether an injury is accidental, is to be determined from the standpoint of the person injured. If the injury comes to him through external force, not of his own choice or provocation, then as to him the injury is accidental.

127 So. at 557.⁴ <u>accord</u> Zurich American Ins. Co. v. Goodwin, 920 So.2d 427, ¶8 (Miss.,2006) ("Under Mississippi law, unless the policy specifically states that it is viewed from the perspective of the insured, ["accident"] will be viewed from the perspective of the *injured*." (emphasis in original) Without question, the property damage alleged by Broom was not "expected or intended" by Broom.

Even if one were to consider "accident" from the standpoint of the insured, as Great River argued you must in the lower Court, the "property damage" alleged by Broom was "accidental" from the standpoint of Rea's. Great River argued that Broom was seeking purely contractual damages, that Rea's breached contractual duties to Broom, and that such damages do not constitute an occurrence under the law. Cookston expressly advised Great River "we have not found a case from any Mississippi Court specifically addressing the issue, [however] courts from other jurisdictions have held that damages flowing from breach of contract are not the result of an 'occurrence' as defined in the policy at issue." **RE 75** More importantly, Great River admits it was "[equally] possible that a Mississippi judge would side with a [jurisdiction] which found such facts <u>do</u> create an occurrence [as opposed to those who find they do not]." **RE 149**

That is exactly what this Court has since done in *Architex*. ("Faulty workmanship, defective work, et al., may be accidental, intentional, or neither.") 27 So.3d at ¶28 Just like Architex,

⁴ The subsequent case of *Allstate vs. Moulton*, 464 So.2d 507 (Miss.1985) did not change the rule announced in *Alden Mills*. It dealt with a differently worded policy. ["The policy states <u>unequivocally</u> that 'occurrence' is to be interpreted 'from the standpoint of the insured.' Thus by the terms of the policy we are <u>precluded</u> from interpreting 'occurrence' or 'accident' from the standpoint of the injured party."] (emphasis added).

Rea's paid additional premiums to secure coverage for "Contractors – subcontracted work – in connection with street or highway construction or repair". **RE 3** Rea's also paid specific premiums for coverage related to "Grading of Land" and "Street or Road Construction or Reconstruction". **RE 2** Rea's policy, like Architex's, includes the "subcontractor exception" to its exclusions. **RE 6**, 10 Broom's Complaint expressly alleges "W.C. Pitts" dumped 71 loads of waste material onto her property, but seeks compensation for the cost of removing same and "reclaiming and restoring" her property from all Defendants. At best, given the allegations in Broom's Complaint, Pitts was a subcontractor of Rea's and/or the other defendants.

Having recognized arguments existed both ways about whether a Mississippi Court may find the facts alleged by Broom (even as interpreted by Great River) constitute an "occurrence", <u>supra</u>, Great River had an absolute duty to defend Rea's. "[W]here there are two or more reasonable interpretations of a clause, the court will adopt the interpretation that provides coverage. Moreover, any doubt as to the existence of a defense obligation is likewise resolved in favor of the insured". *Liberty Mutual Fir Ins. Co. vs. Canal Ins. Co.*, 177 F.3d 326, 331 (5th Cir. 1999) Counsel for Great River made it emphatically clear in the Hearing on Great River's MSJ that Great River was resting on the issue of whether there was an "occurrence" to deny Rea's claims. "[O]ur position in the case, for purpose of summary judgment [is that there is] no occurrence, therefore there's no coverage in this case. There's no duty to defend." **T 51**

In arguing one or more of the policy exclusions applies, Great River is confusing its ultimate duty to indemnify with its duty to defend. The

... <u>ultimate liability</u> by the insurer is not dispositive of its duty to defend. To the contrary, the duty to defend is broader than the insurer's duty to indemnify under its policy of insurance: The insurer has a duty to defend when there is <u>any basis</u> for <u>potential</u> liability under the policy.

Cullop v. Sphere Drake Insurance Company, 129 F.Supp.2d 981, 982 (S.D. Miss. 2001) (citations omitted) Whether facts developed in litigation may have afforded Great River the right

38

to refuse indemnity under an exclusion is not at issue here. Great River had a duty to defend because Broom's Complaint alleged "property damage" caused by an "occurrence".

Each of the exclusions urged by Great River requires findings of specific facts in order to apply. Exclusion J(5) requires a finding that the damage to Broom's property was to the "the particular part of real property on which you or any [subcontractor] are performing operations." J(6) requires a finding the damage resulted from "your work" being "incorrectly performed", and does not apply to damage included in the "products completed operations hazard" (for which Rea's paid separate premiums for a separate coverage limit (**RE 1-2**)). Exclusion m requires a finding that property damage was caused to "impaired property" by a defect in "your work" or the insured's (or its subcontractor's) failure to perform a contract in agreement with its terms. **RE 5-7** Even Cookston informed Great River that it was "arguable" these exclusions apply, implicitly acknowledging they may not apply — and were fact determinative. <u>supra</u> Of course, Cookston's opinions were premised on the false and <u>unreasonable</u> conclusion that Rea's had performed some work on Broom's land for which it had a duty to conform to the terms of some (admittedly unknown) contract.

Given the factual requisite for these exclusions to apply, Great River must demonstrate the Chancellor "abused his discretion [or] was manifestly wrong." *Baumgardner*, ¶15 This Great River cannot do, as the substantial, un-refuted evidence is that Rea's had no contractual duty to Broom, and that none of Rea's subcontractors who may have done work on Broom's property did so on Rea's behalf. <u>supra</u> Great River's complaint the Chancellor "did not address or discuss the policy's exclusions" is untimely. Miss.R.Civ.P. 52 requires a Trial Court conducting a bench trial to make findings on specific issues if requested by a party within 10 days after entry of the Court's judgment. Uniform Chancery Ct. Rule 4.01, which incorporates Rule 52, likewise requires such a request be made in writing. Great River made no such request or motion.

Accordingly, this Court "may presume that the trial court made all findings of fact that were necessary to support its ruling." *Stutts v. Miller*, 37 So.3d 1, ¶16, N5 (Miss.,2010)

Had Great River defended Rea's as it was required to, it may have been able to prove Rea's had no obligations to Broom, and avoided any settlement by or judgment against Rea's. Having refused to defend, however, Great River is responsible for Rea's attorneys' fees and settlement amount. *Mississippi Ins. Guar. Ass'n vs. Byars*, 614 So.2d 959, 964 (Miss. 1993); *Marvar Shrimp & Oyster Co., Ltd. Vs. USF&G*, 187 So.2d 871, 875 (Miss. 1966) ("Having unjustifiably refused to defend, the Insurance Company is liable not only for the attorneys' fees, expenses, and court costs, but also for the amount of the settlement") (citing 7A *Appleman, Insurance Law and Practice* § 4683 (1962).

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